THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Supreme Court

---

**RECEIVED**

**Apr 19 2021**

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas  
J. Ernest Kinard, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

---

**S.C. SUPREME COURT**

Court of Appeals Opinion No. 2019-UP-393  
Originally Filed as 2018-UP-178, 2018-UP-179 and 2018-UP-180  
Withdrawn, Substituted and Refiled December 18, 2019

---

Appellate Case No. 2020-000667

---

The Callawassie Island Members Club, Inc., Respondent,

v.

Gregory L. Martin and Rebecca L. Martin, Defendants,

and

The Callawassie Island Members Club, Inc., Respondent,

v.

Michael J. Frey and Grace I. Frey, Defendants,

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the Court of Appeals err when it upheld a contract that has been unilaterally modified such that it effectively binds Petitioners in perpetuity?
- II. Did the Court of Appeals mistake the law and the contract when it allowed one party to unilaterally change material terms of the contract?
- III. Did the Court of Appeals misconstrue precedent when it applied *Dennis's* determinations on *resignation* to the *expulsions* at issue here?
- IV. Did the Court of Appeals err in affirming the circuit court's damages award?
- V. Did the Court of Appeals err in upholding the Club's disparate treatment of its members of the same class?
- VI. Did the Court of Appeals' errors on the foregoing issues invalidate its determinations as to Petitioners' counterclaims?
- VII. Did the Court of Appeals improperly deprive Petitioners of appellate review on the question of attorney's fees?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This Court granted a writ of certiorari to review the Court of Appeals' decision in this case, which affirmed the circuit court's orders granting summary judgment in favor of Respondent, Callawassie Island Members Club, Inc. The orders on appeal<sup>1</sup> disregard evidence in the record; moreover, the lower courts' rulings are in conflict with the terms of the documents that bind the parties, as well as with this Court's precedent, statutory law, and the public policy of this State. This Court should reverse and remand for trial.

### **I. Factual Background**

Although the Court may be familiar with some of the characters, it should not assume that it knows the tale. These cases involve a social club on Callawassie Island, located outside of Beaufort. The social club—Respondent Callawassie Island Members Club, Inc. (the "Club")—is ravenously pursuing dozens of its former members in the South Carolina courts. The Club insists that its former members are indentured to keep paying dues and fees, for years after those members depart the Club. Petitioners Greg Martin and Michael Frey are two of the Club's former members.

The Club is not the homeowners' association in the Callawassie development, which is a separate entity not involved in this lawsuit. Instead, the Club exists only for socialization and recreation—croquet, mah-jongg, swimming, tennis, bridge, bunco,

---

<sup>1</sup> There are four orders on appeal: *Order[s] Granting Summary Judgment in Favor of Plaintiff Against [Petitioners]* and *Order[s] Denying Defendants' Motion for Reconsideration and Affirming Summary Judgment against [Petitioners]* (A. pp. 8, 11, 1589, 1599).

wine, golf, etc. Many Callawassie residents are not members of the Club. Petitioners' Club membership is a contractual relationship, and it does not touch and concern their property on Callawassie Island.

Martin and Frey applied for their membership in the Club, and they paid large initial capital contributions to become equity members (\$31,000 for Martin, \$22,000 for Frey). (A. pp. 333, 2268, 2394, 2473). As Equity Members, the Petitioners acquired a stake in the Club's governance and regulation; they acquired legal rights under the governing documents; they acquired authority to vote on the Club's affairs. Club dues are significant. Back in 2011, monthly dues were about \$705/month, and they have only increased in the past decade. (A. p. 30).

The Club and its members are bound by the Club's governing documents, as well as by the Nonprofit Corporation Act under which the Club was formed. The Club's governing documents and the Nonprofit Corporation Act provide rights to the Club's members, and they impose mutual obligations on the Club and its members alike. *However*, in practice the Club perceives itself to be omnipotent regarding membership. In practice, sometimes the Club allows certain members to depart. In practice, sometimes the Club keeps billing certain former members long after they have sold their property on Callawassie. Consistency is certainly no hobgoblin of the Club's mind.

In practice, if the Club comes to dislike the confines of its governing documents, it simply changes the terms, or ignores them. Indeed, the Club has a practice of secretly changing its governing documents, without notice to or a vote of its Equity Members.

Those secret changes are what have trapped dozens of Equity Members, such as Martin and Frey, in what amounts to a contract with perpetual obligations.

Martin and Frey do not live on Callawassie Island, and they have not used the Club amenities for years. Martin and Frey severed ties with the Club years ago. Yet the Club has demanded that Martin and Frey continue paying dues for golf and other amenities – past, present, future – until the Club deigns to release them, which it may never do. As the Court of Appeals stated, “Regardless of what term is used, it appears this is an obligation which could last forever.” (A. p. 2070).

Today, the Club claims it is owed hundreds of thousands of dollars. That amount increases monthly, with no end in sight.

**A. Membership and Expulsion**

At the time that Petitioners joined the Club, it was well-established that a member could exit the Club without selling his property on Callawassie. Martin and Frey did *not* join a social club which would require them to abandon their homes in order to escape it – who would? That, obviously, is too steep a price to pay for croquet and mah-jongg. Instead, there were various methods to end one’s membership in the Club: a member could resign his membership, terminate his membership, concede his membership, or, under certain circumstances, suspend his membership and be automatically expelled by the Club. Each exit path had different procedures and consequences, explained in the Club’s governing documents.

One exit path involved mandatory expulsion from the Club after four months of non-payment. As penalty, the Club would keep the member's large capital contribution while the Club obtained a new member. The capital contribution was *plenty* of money to cover the Club's cost while it acquired a new member. This agreed-upon exit path was based on the Club's governing documents, and on the practice and representations of the Club. The Club routinely published a delinquent member list, identifying by name its suspended members.

The expulsion rubric within the Club's governing documents was straightforward. First, a member who was sixty days delinquent on dues was "suspended." **There is no dispute that Martin and Frey each were suspended.** (A. pp. 145, 1743). Next, after four months of non-payment, the member was automatically "expelled." (A. p. 506). An expelled member forfeited his equity contribution to the Club (often as much as \$45,000) and had no further financial obligation to the Club. An expelled member could never again be admitted to the Club facilities "under any circumstances" and was not eligible for Club membership again – the person was *verboden*. (A. pp. 1335-36, 217-19, 336-37).

The evidence and testimony in the record shows that the Club has a history of expelling members, as provided in the governing documents.<sup>2</sup>

---

<sup>2</sup> See, e.g. A. p. 1556; pp. 1570-71; p. 466, line 19-p. 466, line 24; p. 473, lines 10-11; R. 475, lines 6-18; p. 487, lines 2-17; pp. 506-08; p. 609, line 9-p. 612, line 18; p. 622, lines 1-14; p. 660, line 7-p. 661, line 12; p. 664, lines 16-20; p. 677, line 16-p. 678, line 8; p. 687, lines 8-9; p. 714, lines 3-13; p. 874, lines 5-19; p. 900, lines 2-17; p. 924, lines 9-25; p. 943, lines 22-24; p. 1102, lines 1-13; p. 1104, lines 3-8.

Based on the documents' clear formula, Martin should have been expelled in early 2012, and Frey should have been expelled in January of 2010, if not sooner. (A. pp. 30-31, 146-150, 1627-1631, 1744-1750).

**B. Massaging the documents: "shall" to "may"**

Over time, the Club apparently became dissatisfied with the number of people choosing the expulsion option. Therefore, in or about 2007-2008,<sup>3</sup> the Club quietly massaged the governing documents. The Club Rules were amended without notice to, or vote by, the members. Among other things, the Club furtively changed the word "shall" to "may" with regard to expulsion. There were enormous, material ramifications to this deceptively small word swap. Instantly, the Club claims it could simply decline to expel a member, thereby binding the member to the Club for as long as the Club so chose. *The evidence shows that the Club did not get members' approval for, or even notify them of, this drastic change.* The Club just did it.

Martin and Frey were never notified of the amendments. They were not aware their rights had been changed, until they attempted to leave the Club . . . and found that the Club would not let them go. (A. pp. 424, 2023). The Club continues to doggedly claim them as its members, although it long ago banned them from the badminton courts.

---

<sup>3</sup> Because it was done in secret, the precise date of the change is not clear, although it appears to have been around the time of global financial crisis of 2007-2008 and the Great Recession. (A. p. 1439: 2007 Rules § 13.3.1).

## **II. Procedural history**

This is an appeal of summary judgment orders by the circuit court. Despite voluminous factual evidence in favor of Martin and Frey, the circuit court granted summary judgment to the Club.

### **A. Circuit court proceedings**

In September 2012, the Club filed Complaints in the Court of Common Pleas for Beaufort County, alleging claims of breach of contract and quantum meruit against defendants Gregory L. Martin and Rebecca L. Martin (the “Martins”) and defendants Michael J. Frey and Grace I. Frey (the “Freys”). On November 21, 2012, the Martins and Freys each filed Answers and Counterclaims, alleging counterclaims of breach of contract, violations of South Carolina Code § 33-31-620, -621 *et seq.*, “Failure to allow Members to approve fundamental changes,” misrepresentation, and breach of fiduciary duty. In December 2012, the Martins and Freys each filed an Amended Answer and Counterclaims, to which the Club responded on January 18, 2013, with its Reply to Defendants’ Amended Answer and Counterclaims.

In July and August, 2013, the Club filed Motions to Dismiss, alleging that the Martins’ and Freys’ second, third, fifth, and sixth causes of action failed to state a claim. In particular, the Club argued that the breach of fiduciary duty claim must be pled as a derivative action. On November 6, 2013, the Martins and Freys each filed oppositions to those motions to dismiss, arguing that they were seeking redress for their individual losses, which did not need to be filed derivatively.

On March 7, 2014, the Club filed a Motion for Summary Judgment against each the Martins and the Freys, seeking judgment as a matter of law in favor of the Club on all of the Club's claims, and seeking judgment as a matter of law dismissing all of the Martins' and Freys' counterclaims.

On April 10, 2014, the Circuit Court granted in part the Club's Motions to Dismiss, holding that the breach of fiduciary duty counterclaims, and certain other counterclaims, must be plead as derivative claims. On May 7, 2014, the Martins and Freys each filed a Second Amended Answer and Counterclaim, alleging counterclaims for breach of contract, violation of South Carolina Code §§ 33-31-620, -621 *et seq.*, violation of South Carolina Code § 33-31-611, misrepresentation, and South Carolina Code § 33-31-610 *et seq.*, in addition to numerous affirmative defenses. The Club filed its response to those pleadings on May 16, 2014.

On May 19, 2014, the Martins and Freys each filed a Memorandum in Opposition to Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment. On May 19, 2014, a hearing was held in Beaufort before The Honorable J. Ernest Kinard, Jr., Circuit Court Judge, on the Club's Motions for Summary Judgment. On June 27, 2014, Judge Kinard issued two orders granting the Club's Motions for Summary Judgment on all claims and counterclaims as to Gregory L. Martin and Michael Frey, but denying the claims as to Rebecca Martin and Grace Frey.

On July 7, 2014, Petitioners each filed a Motion to Reconsider Order Granting Summary Judgment. Supporting memoranda and attachments were filed on July 16,

2014. The Club filed a Memorandum in Opposition to Petitioners' Motion to Reconsider on October 28, 2014. On November 3, 2014, Judge Kinard heard oral arguments on the Motions to Reconsider. On November 17, 2014, Petitioners each filed – at Judge Kinard's direction – a Supplemental Brief in Opposition to Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment Demanding Attorneys' Fees. On December 22, 2014, Judge Kinard issued two Orders Denying Defendants' Motion for Reconsideration and Affirming Summary Judgment against each Appellant.

Petitioners each filed a timely Notice of Appeal on January 2, 2015.

#### **B. Court of Appeals proceedings, round 1**

The appeals were briefed to the South Carolina Court of Appeals, which filed Opinions No. 2018-UP-178 and 2018-UP-179 on May 2, 2018. (A. pp. 2165, 2368). In those opinions, the Court of Appeals affirmed in part, reversed in part, and remanded to the trial court. The Court of Appeals held, *inter alia*, that ambiguity exists in the governing documents, and that evidence exists as to whether the governing documents were improperly changed. The Court of Appeals also found that sufficient evidence exists to support Petitioners' counterclaims, and therefore summary judgment should not have been granted on the counterclaims. In May 2018, both the Club and Petitioners filed Petitions for Rehearing on certain parts of the Court of Appeals' opinions.

#### **C. Dennis – Resignation from the Club**

In the meantime, this Court ruled upon another of the many Callawassie cases proceeding through South Carolina's courts: *The Callawassie Island Members Club, Inc. v.*

*Dennis*, 425 S.C. 193, 821 S.E.2d 667 (2018) (“*Dennis*”). *Dennis* is a case about *resignation* from the Club, *not* expulsion by the Club. As this Court recognized, resignation is a different legal beast from expulsion, under the governing documents, the statute, and the Club’s practices.

In *Dennis*, this Court ruled on three precise issues that were specific to the *Dennis* record and to the specific statutory provision at issue in that case: S.C. Code § 33-31-620 (“A member may resign at any time.”). This Court held:

1. Payment after **resignation**: “[Section 5.11 of the 2008 Plan] unambiguously provides the Dennises are obligated to continue to pay all membership dues, fees, and other charges after **resignation** until their membership is reissued.”<sup>4</sup>
2. Parol evidence: “First, because we find the terms of the membership documents [at issue in *Dennis*] are unambiguous, no statements regarding the terms of those documents may be used to vary their otherwise clear meaning.”<sup>5</sup>
3. Nonprofit Corporation Act: “The dues, fees, and other charges the Dennises owe fall into the ‘commitments made’ category. The 1994 Plan—which was in effect when the Dennises joined—and the 2008 Plan—which was in effect when the Dennises **resigned**—both provide that a member who **resigns** from the Club must continue to pay membership dues, fees, and other charges ‘until his or her equity membership is reissued by the Club.’ When the Dennises joined the club, they made a commitment to continue to pay dues, fees, and other charges during the period of time after **resignation** and before reissuance of the membership. Therefore, we find the requirement that members continue to pay dues, fees, and other charges after **resignation** until their membership is reissued is not prohibited by section 33-31-620.”<sup>6</sup>

---

<sup>4</sup> *Dennis*, 425 S.C. at 200, 821 S.E.2d at 670 (emphasis added).

<sup>5</sup> *Id.* at 203, 821 S.E.2d at 672.

<sup>6</sup> *Id.* at 206, 821 S.E.2d at 673 (emphasis added).

This Court expressly recognized that expulsion was not at issue in *Dennis*. The Court's majority specified that the expulsion provisions were not invoked in *Dennis*:

This provision makes it clear that **mandatory expulsion** arises only after the board has suspended a member, which is discretionary with the board. Here, no suspension ever occurred; the Dennises resigned. **Therefore, the four-month suspension period that leads to expulsion was never triggered.**

*Dennis*, 425 S.C. at 204, 821 S.E.2d at 673 (emphasis added). The dissent in *Dennis* recognized that expulsion ends membership in the Club:

Suspended members have four months to pay all indebtedness, including dues that accrue during suspension. Any member who fails to do so "**shall be expelled from the Club,**" ending their liability for future dues. . . .

*Id.* at 213, 821 S.E.2d at 677 (emphasis added).

In *Dennis*, this Court acknowledged that the Dennises raised other issues to this Court, which this Court did not rule upon. On November 14, 2018, this Court remanded *Dennis* to the Court of Appeals to address the other issues.

#### **D. Court of Appeals proceedings, round 2**

Back in the Court of Appeals, on November 30, 2018, the court granted both sides' petitions for rehearing in the *Martin* and *Frey* cases. The Court of Appeals requested that the parties file supplemental briefs in light of this Court's decision in *Dennis*.

Both sides filed supplemental briefs. Summarized, the Club argued that the *Dennis* opinion categorically decided all legal and factual issues, of any sort, in favor of the Club, be they fish or fowl. The Club's favored word on this topic was "subsumed," as in "*Dennis* subsumes all things Callawassie." In contrast, Petitioners argued that

*Dennis* applies to the specific facts and issues in the *Dennis* case: resignation and the resignation provision of the Nonprofit Corporation Act (S.C. Code § 33-31-620).

The Court of Appeals held oral argument on each *Dennis* and *Martin/Frey* on May 7, 2019. The Court of Appeals questioned counsel extensively on the scope and meaning of this Court's *Dennis* ruling – specifically, whether *Dennis* is confined to the specific facts in *Dennis*, as the opinion stated? Or does it have the broader, all-encompassing scope that the Club claims?

On December 19, 2019, the Court of Appeals withdrew its previous opinions in *Martin* and *Frey* (now consolidated), and substituted a new opinion, 2019-UP-393. In that ruling, the Court of Appeals subscribed to the Club's subsumption argument and interpreted *Dennis* to categorically decide all things Callawassie, regardless of whether or not the issues or facts were within the scope of *Dennis*. Believing it was entirely bound by this Court's ruling, the Court of Appeals quietly observed:

As noted, the supreme court declined to call this obligation without a foreseeable end a "perpetual liability." Regardless of what term is used, it appears this is an obligation which could last forever.

(A. p. 2070).

After their petition for rehearing was denied by the Court of Appeals, *Martin* and *Frey* petitioned this Court for a writ of certiorari, on April 27, 2020.

#### **E. *Dennis***

In addition to *Martin* and *Frey*, the Court of Appeals also issued a ruling on the remanded *Dennis* case. (Opinion No. 5696, filed Dec. 18, 2019). In that ruling, the Court

of Appeals affirmed in part, reversed in part, and remanded to the trial court. Among other things, the Court of Appeals held that a question of fact exists as to whether the Club disparately treated members, in violation of S.C. Code § 33-31-611(c). Summarized, the Court of Appeals noted that the Club allowed some members to depart the Club but denied that right to others (like the Dennises). The Court of Appeals held that discrimination among members would violate the requirements of the Nonprofit Corporation Act. The Court of Appeals remanded *Dennis* to the trial court.

In *Dennis*, both sides moved for rehearing on various issues, which the Court of Appeals denied. Both sides then petitioned this Court for a writ certiorari, which this Court declined on January 22, 2021, as to *Dennis*.

On March 9, 2021, this Court granted certiorari to review the Court of Appeals' opinion in *Martin and Frey*.

### STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review *matters* in this case. Importantly, there is more than one standard that applies: (1) de novo as to legal and contractual text issues, and (2) mere scintilla of evidence as to factual issues.

The first applicable standard is de novo, and it goes to the question of the ambiguity of the contract, which is a question of law for the court, as well as to the interpretation of a statute—also a question of law. *See Dennis*, 425 S.C. at 198, 821 S.E.2d at 669 (“We review questions of law de novo.”).

However (and this is where the lower courts erred), even if the court in its de novo review finds the contract to be unambiguous and the terms of the statute clear, **the procedural posture of this case is nonetheless one of summary judgment.** Thus, like the lower court, the reviewing court is to apply the standard dictated by Rule 56 of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure. Summary judgment is proper only where there exists no dispute of fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Rule 56(c), SCRCP.

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