**RECEIVED**

**Jun 08 2021**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Supreme Court

S.C. SUPREME COURT

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY  
J. Ernest Kinard, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2020-000667  
Case No. 2012-CP-07-3218

The Callawassie Island Members Club, Inc., ..... Respondent,

v.

Gregory L. Martin and Rebecca L. Martin, ..... Defendants,

and

The Callawassie Island Members Club, Inc., ..... Respondent,

v.

Michael J. Frey and Grace I. Frey, ..... Defendants,

and

The Callawassie Island Members Club, Inc., ..... Respondent,

v.

Mark K. Quinn and Sherry B. Quinn, ..... Defendants,

Of Whom, Gregory L. Martin and Michael J. Frey are ..... Petitioners.

---

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

## ARGUMENTS

**I. The Court of Appeals did not err in addressing the issues as presented and in refusing to address any unpreserved claim that the governing documents are illegal, unconscionable, or otherwise create perpetual liability.**

The Petitioners initially make an exaggerated argument that they have been “condemned” to “inescapable bondage” and are “held captive.” They claim that “trying to sell their property is useless.” Such commentary is not only unsupported by the record, but it is also inaccurate in that hundreds of properties on Callawassie Island have been sold. They are claiming “perpetual, inescapable liability,” and are pleading that the Court intercede to find the Club’s documents and practices to be “illegal” and “unenforceable.” Remarkably, the Petitioners did not even seek this relief in the trial court below.<sup>2</sup>

The Petitioners' claims of illegality, unconscionability, unenforceability, and “perpetual liability” were never raised in the trial court and are not properly preserved for appellate review. The trial court orders on appeal do not address those arguments. The Petitioners did not ask the

---

<sup>2</sup> Repeatedly throughout their opening brief, the Petitioners make factual allegations that are just that – mere allegations unsupported by any evidence. This is well illustrated by the "Factual Background" in the Petitioners' Opening Brief which lacks appropriate citations to admissible evidence. Most allegations include no citation to the record, and others include citations to previous legal briefs or filings. The Court is urged to closely review the Petitioners' factual assertions because there is a clear absence of admissible evidence to support most of those points. In essence, what the Petitioners repeatedly assert as fact is really argument of counsel. It is, however, well established that the assertions or arguments of counsel are not evidence. *See, McManus v. Bank of Greenwood*, 171 S.C. 84, 171 S.E.2d 473, 475 (1933) (“This court has repeatedly held that statements of fact appearing only in argument of counsel will not be considered”); *Bowers v. Bowers*, 304 S.C. 65, 403 S.E.2d 127, 129 (Ct. App. 1991) (“Arguments of counsel are ... not evidence”); *Gilmore v. Ivey*, 290 S.C. 53, 348 S.E.2d 180 (Ct. App. 1986). The Petitioners also frequently make inflammatory references to other litigation pending between CIMC and other members. However, with the exception of the *Dennis* litigation, as adjudicated by this Court previously, any litigation involving other members is immaterial to this appeal and, in fact, the pleadings and orders pertaining to such litigation are not included in the Appendix or the lower court record.

trial court to declare that the governing documents are “perpetual contracts” that are contrary to public policy or that they are illegal, unconscionable, or otherwise unenforceable. These are arguments made for the first time on appeal. *See, Wilder Corp. v. Wilkie*, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733 (1998) (“it is axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge to be preserved for appellate review”). Additionally, these arguments reflect an impermissible change of theory on appeal. *See also, Gurganious v. City of Beaufort*, 317 S.C. 481, 454 S.E.2d 912, 916 (Ct. App. 1995) (litigant is prohibited from “chang[ing] his theory on appeal”).

The Petitioners’ Amended Answers and Counterclaims reflect that the Petitioners never affirmatively pled illegality, unconscionability, and unenforceability based on public policy as counterclaims or defenses. In *H.G. Hall Construction Co., Inc. v. J.E.P. Enterprises*, 283 S.C. 196, 321 S.E.2d 267 (1984), this Court held that illegality of contract is an affirmative defense that must be pled. 321 S.E.2d at 271. This Court declined a request to set aside a verdict because a contract was illegal where the illegality of the contract was not raised as an affirmative defense in the answer. *See also*, Rule 8(c), SCRPC (specifically listing “illegality” as affirmative defense). Likewise, in *D&D Leasing v. David Lipson, Ph.D. P.A.*, 305 S.C. 540, 409 S.E.2d 794 (Ct. App. 1991), the Court of Appeals ruled that unenforceability of a contractual provision is an affirmative defense. As mentioned, the prayers in the Petitioners’ Amended Answers and Counterclaims did not seek rescission nor any declaration that the governing documents are illegal, unconscionable, or unenforceable as a “perpetual contract” that is against public policy. Those are issues that the trial court was not asked to decide. Accordingly, the Petitioners should be precluded from now making such arguments for the first time on appeal.

That is particularly true because these arguments were made for the first time *in a*

*petition for rehearing* filed with the Court of Appeals. The appellate courts have consistently ruled that “[t]he purpose of a petition for rehearing is not to present points which lawyers for the losing parties have overlooked or misapprehended, nor is it the purpose of the petition for rehearing to have the case tried in the appellate court a second time.” *Kennedy v. South Carolina Retirement System*, 349 S.C. 531, 564 S.E.2d 322, 322 (2001). *See also, Kleckley v. Northwestern National Cas. Co.*, 338 S.C. 131, 526 S.E.2d 218 (2000) (issue raised for first time in petition for rehearing not preserved for review); *Liberty Loan Corp. of Darlington v. Mumford*, 283 S.C. 134, 322 S.E.2d 17 (Ct. App. 1984) (same).

Additionally, and perhaps most importantly, these arguments are in direct contravention of this Court’s decision in the related case of *Callawassie Island Members Club, Inc. v. Dennis*, 425 S.C. 193, 821 S.E.2d 667 (2018). In *Dennis*, this Court analyzed the very same “membership arrangement and the membership documents that govern that arrangement” as are at issue in these cases. 821 S.E.2d at 670. This Court recognized that three documents -- the Bylaws, the Plan, and the Rules -- “govern the membership” and that “[t]he three documents reference each other and are intended to operate together.” *Id.* This Court determined that “[w]hen the Dennises resigned in 2010, the membership documents in effect were the 2008 Plan, the 2009 Bylaws, and the 2009 Rules.” *Id.* This Court also found “[t]here is no evidence that the various amendments to the documents were in any way contrary to the Bylaws, Plan, and Rules in place at the time of the amendments.” *Id.* In reinstating summary judgment in favor of CIMC, this Court concluded that the Dennises made a commitment to pay dues, fees, and other charges until the reissuance of their membership and that this contractual obligation was binding and legal under the South Carolina Nonprofit Corporation Act.

Additionally, in *Dennis*, this Court rejected the argument of “perpetual liability.” In

responding to the dissent’s claim of a “harsh result,” the Court pointed out that:

[A]s in all cases before this Court—we decide only the issues before us in *this* case. The “logical end” of our analysis goes no further than required by the four corners of the governing documents in this case when applied to the facts of this case. The Dennises resigned on November 1, 2010, and the summary judgment order was filed on June 10, 2014. Therefore, the summary judgment we affirm is for less than four years of unpaid dues. We are *not* deciding whether the governing documents could support perpetual liability under these or any other facts.

*Dennis*, 821 S.E.2d at 671-672. (Emphasis in original). This Court further explained:

First, the Dennises’ membership in the Club -- and thus their obligation to pay membership dues, fees, and other charges -- is tied to their ownership of a lot and house on Callawassie Island. If the Dennises truly wish to avoid paying membership dues, they may sell their house. In addition, Callawassie Island is a private resort community developed around the property owners’ use of the amenities paid for by these dues. The Dennises purchased their exclusive home there in 1999 for \$590,000. They have chosen not to sell, but are instead attempting to keep their home on this resort island without having to pay a property owner’s share of the amenities.

When reading unambiguous contracts, we should not normally concern ourselves with the fairness of the result required by the terms of the contract. The Dennises have not asked the circuit court, the court of appeals, nor this Court to decide the case based on any alleged harshness of having to pay dues. Because the dissent has made it an issue, however, we note our decision by no means renders a harsh result. Rather, this is precisely the result to which these sophisticated purchasers of a resort home agreed when they decided to purchase the property and abide by the terms of the governing documents.

821 S.E.2d at 672. These same principles and observations are equally applicable to the Petitioners’ cases. The summary judgments cover a finite period of time. Additionally, as indicated, the Petitioners did not raise and preserve any issue about the “harshness” of the result. Therefore, as in *Dennis*, these cases will be adjudicated based on the issues presented, and that has been done with the Court of Appeals’ affirmance of the summary judgments.

The Petitioners, however, are asking this Court, in essence, to disregard its previous decision in *Dennis* which, as the Court of Appeals correctly recognized in its opinion, is controlling and dispositive. They now insist that this Court's decision in *Dennis* is mere dictum, which it clearly is not.<sup>3</sup> In sum, the first issue raised by the Petitioners is not timely raised, is not preserved, and is entirely lacking in merit. This Court's controlling rulings from *Dennis* are not dicta and are dispositive of the identical issues raised in these cases.

**II. The Court of Appeals correctly ruled that there is no genuine issue of material fact to dispute, as determined in *Dennis*, that the General Club Rules were properly amended in 2007.**

The Petitioners argue that CIMC improperly amended the governing documents to change material terms. They insist that there exists a genuine issue of material fact to preclude summary judgment. The Court of Appeals correctly rejected that argument: “The Rules do not contain any provisions requiring a vote of the full membership to amend. Thus, the evidence does not raise a genuine issue of material fact regarding whether the governing documents were properly changed.” (App. 2067). That ruling is consistent with this Court’s decision in *Dennis* where this Court ruled that “[t]here is no evidence that the various amendments to the documents were in any way contrary to the Bylaws, Plan, and Rules in place at the time of the

---

<sup>3</sup> See, *Drummond v. Beasley*, 331 S.C. 559, 503 S.E.2d 455 (1998) (characterizing as dicta certain language in a case concerning a subject not within the question before the court); *Hampton v. Richland County*, 296 S.C. 72, 370 S.E.2d 714, 714 (1988) (concluding discussion of a legal principle in an opinion was dicta where it was “clearly unnecessary to a resolution of the issue before the court”); *Dennis v. South Carolina National Bank*, 299 S.C. 34, 382 S.E.2d 237, 240 (Ct. App. 1988) (construing language in a case as dicta because it was “an expression or statement by the court on a matter not necessarily involved in the case nor necessary to a decision thereof”).

amendments.” *Dennis*, 821 S.E.2d at 670. By footnote, this Court cited the provisions in those documents that authorized such amendments:

The 1994 Bylaws provide the “Bylaws may be altered, amended, or repealed.” The 1994 Plan provides the “Plan may be amended in accordance with the Bylaws.” Similarly, the 1994 Bylaws provide the board of the Island Club have [sic] the authority to “[a]dopt, alter, amend, or repeal the Rules governing use of the Club.”

*Id.*, n.1.

Nevertheless, the Petitioners now try to make a new argument for the first time on appeal. The Petitioners did not raise this argument as an issue in their previous briefs or at oral argument in the Court of Appeals; instead, they raised it for the first time in their request for a rehearing. In continuing to press their debunked “mandatory expulsion” argument,<sup>4</sup> the Petitioners argue that the Nonprofit Corporation Act prevented the CIMC Board from amending the General Club Rules in 2007 without a vote of the members.<sup>5</sup> As a new theory, the Petitioners claim that the General Club Rules should also be considered “bylaws” based on the definition in S.C. Code Ann. § 33-31-140(4), and as “bylaws,” the Rules could not be amended except by a vote of the members. This new issue should be rejected on several procedural and substantive bases.

---

<sup>4</sup> The Petitioners rely on language in the 2001 Rules stating: “Any member whose account is not settled within the four (4) months period following suspension *shall* be expelled from the Club.” (App. 1358). (Emphasis added). However, in 2007, the Rules were properly amended, and the “mandatory expulsion” language was removed. The 2007 Rules state: “Any member whose account is not settled within the four (4) month period following suspension *may* be expelled from the Club.” (App. 1439). (Emphasis added). The 2009 Rules continued to use the same “may be expelled” language. (App. 1475). Citing that same language, this Court in *Dennis* explained that “the 2009 Rules, which were in effect when the Dennises resigned, do not make expulsion mandatory under any condition.” *Dennis*, 821 S.E.2d at 673. Those same 2009 Rules, as applied to the Petitioners, show that expulsion was likewise not mandatory in the 2009-2010 time frame applicable here.

<sup>5</sup> The Petitioners also allege repeatedly that the amendment of the Rules was done “in secret.” There is no evidence in the record supporting that claim.

First, as mentioned, the Petitioners raised this issue to the Court of Appeals for the first time in a petition for rehearing, which is improper. *See, Kleckley v. Northwestern National Cas. Co.*, 338 S.C. 131, 526 S.E.2d 218 (2000) (issue raised for first time in petition for rehearing not preserved for review).

Second, this issue was never raised to the trial court and, as a result, cannot be made for the first time on appeal. *See, Wilder Corp. v. Wilkie*, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733 (1998) (“it is axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge to be preserved for appellate review”). In fact, a review of the record shows that S.C. Code Ann. § 33-31-140(4) and its definition of “bylaws” were never cited in the trial court record nor in any appellate brief previously filed in the Court of Appeals.

Finally, the Petitioners’ new theory fails on the merits. Even if the Rules are to be treated as “bylaws,” as they now assert, the South Carolina Nonprofit Corporation Act does not preclude an amendment of the Rules without a vote of the members. Under South Carolina law, “[a] corporation can only exercise the powers granted to it by law, its charter or articles of incorporation, and any by-laws made pursuant thereto.” *Baumann v. Long Cove Club Owners Assn.*, 380 S.C. 131, 668 S.E.2d 420, 424 (Ct. App. 2008). South Carolina law permits the board of directors of a nonprofit corporation to amend the bylaws without a vote by the members in most cases. The Nonprofit Corporation Act provides that:

- (a) A corporation’s board of directors may amend or repeal the corporation’s bylaws unless:
  - (1) the articles of incorporation or this chapter reserves this power exclusively to the members in whole or part or requires the consent of someone pursuant to Section 33-31-1030; or

- (2) the members in adopting, amending, or repealing a particular bylaw provide expressly that the board of directors may not adopt, amend, or repeal that bylaw or any bylaw on that subject.

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